
UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT
SO UTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Cése No. 14-20160-Cr-GAYLES

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

V.

LUIS M ICHAEL M ENDEZ,

Defendant.

/

PLEA AGREEM ENT

The United States of America and LUIS MICHAEL MENDEZ (hereinafter referred to

as the ttdefendanf'), enter into the following agreement in the above-captioned case pursuant to

Rule 1 1(c)(1)(A) & (B) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure:

The defendant agrees to plead guilty to Count 1 of the Indictment. Count 1 of the

Indictment charges the defendant with conspiracy to commit bank fzaud and wire fraud affecting

a ûnancial institution, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349.

The United States will dismiss Counts 4, 8, 16, and 19 of the Indictm ent as to the

defendant after sentencing.

The defendant agrees that the Statement of Offense filed with this plea establishes

his guilt of the offense charged beyond a reasonable doubt. The Statement of Offense, which is

hereby incorporated into this plea agreem ent, constitutes a stipulation of facts for purposes of

Section 1B1.2(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines.

4. The defendant is aware that the sentence will be imposed by the Court after

Case 1:14-cr-20160-DPG   Document 123   Entered on FLSD Docket 08/14/2014   Page 1 of 10



considering the Federal Sentencing Guidelines and Policy Statements (hereinafter Slsentencing

Guidelines''). The defendant acknowledges and understands that the Court will compute an

advisory sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines and that the applicable guidelines will be

determined by the Court relying in part on the results of a Pre-sentence Investigation by the

Court's probation office, which investigation will commence after the guilty plea has been

entered. The defendant also is aware that, under certain circum stances, the Court may depart

from the advisory sentencing guideline range that it has computed, and may raise or lower that

advisory sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines. The defendant is further aware and

tmderstands that the Court is required to consider the advisory guideline range determined under

the Sentencing Guidelines, but is n0t bound to impose that sentence; the Court is permitted to

tailor the ultimate sentence in light of other statutory concerns, and such sentence may be either

more severe or less severe than the Sentencing Guidelines' advisory sentence. Knowing these

facts, the defendant understands and acknowledges that the Court has the authority to impose any

sentence within and up to the statutory maximllm authorized by 1aw for the offenses identified in

paragraph 1 and that the defendant may not withdraw the plea solely as a result of the sentence

imposed.

The defendant also understands and acknowledges that the Court may impose a

statutory maximum term of imprisonment of up to thirty (30) years followed by a term of

supervised release of up to five (5) years. ln addition to a tenu of imprisonment and supervised

release, the Court may impose a fine of up to $1,000,000 and must order restitution.

Altem atively, if the Court determ ines that any person derived pecuniary gain from  the offense, or

that the offense resulted in pecuniary loss to a person other than the defendant, the Court may
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fine the defendant not more than the greater of twice the gross gain or twice the gross loss. The

defendant agrees that he will make restitution at least in the amount of $3,038,229.

6. The defendant further understands and acknowledges that, in addition to any

sentence imposed under paragraph 4 of this agreement, a special assessment in the nmount of

$ 100 will be imposed on the defendant. The defendant agrees that any special assessment

im posed shall be paid at the tim e of sentencing.

The Office of the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida and

Fraud Section, Criminal Division, U.S. Department of Justice (hereinaher the ttoftices'') reserve

the right to inform the Court and the probation office of a11 facts pertinent to the sentencing

process, including a1l relevant information ccmcerning the offenses committed, whether charged

or not, as well as concerning the defendant and/or the defendant's background. Subject only to

the express terms of any agreed-upon sentencing recommendations contained in this agreement,

the Offices further reserve the right to m ake any recomm endation as to the quality and/or

quantity of ptmishment.

8. The United States agrees that it will recom mend at sentencing that the Court

reduce by two levels the sentencing guideline level applicable to the defendant's offenses,

pursuant to Section 3E1 . 1(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines, based upcm the defendant's

recognition and affirmative and timely acceptance of personal responsibility. 1f, at the time of

sentencing, the defendant's offense level is determ ined to be 16 or greater, the governm ent will

make a motion requesting an additional one level decrease pursuarlt to Section 3E1.1(b) of the

Sentencing Guidelines, stating that the defendant has assisted authorities in the investigation or

prosecution of his own misconduct by timely notifying authorities of his intention to enter a plea

of guilty, thereby permitting the government to avoid preparing for trial and pennitting the
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government and the Court to allocate their resources efficiently. The United States, however,

will not be required to make this recommendation or motion if the defendant: (1) fails or refuses

to make a full, acclzrate and complete disclosure to the probation office of the circumstances

surrounding the relevant offense conduct; (2) is found to have misrepresented facts to the

government prior to entering into this plea agreement; or (3) commits any misconduct after

entering into this plea agreement, including but not limited to committing a state or federal

offense, violating any term of release, or making false statements or misrepresentations to any

governmental entity or official.

9. The United States and the defendant agree that, although not binding on the

probation office or the Courq they will jointly recommend that the Court make the following

1findings and conclusions as to the sentence to be imposed :

a. Base Offense Level: U.S.S.G. j2B1.1(a)(1)

Specific offense characteristics:

U.S.S.G. j 2B1.1(b)(1)(I) gtaoss: $2,500,000 to $7,000,000)

Sophisticated M eans:

U.S.S.G. j 2B1.1(b)(10) (C)

Acceptance of Responsibility: If the defendant meets the

requirements of U.S.S.G. j 3E1.1, he may be entitled to a three-
level reduction for acceptance of responsibility, provided that he

forthrightly admits his guilt, cooperates with ihe Court and the
Probation Office in any presentence investigation ordered by the

Court and continues to manifest an acceptance of responsibility
through and including the time of sentencing.

j 'R'he parties have reached no agreement regarding any Criminal History category
. The pm ies

also have reached no agreem ent regarding the applicability of an aggravating role enhancement

under U.S.S.G. j3B1.1. The defendant's position is that no aggravating role enhancement under
j3B 1.1 applies to the conduct. The government reserves the right to argue for an enhancement
uhder j3B1.1(a) or 53B1.1(b).
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C. Total Offense Level; The appropriate adjusted base offense level,
assuming a three-level departttre for acceptance of responsibility
ptzrsuant to Section 3E1.1, is a level 24.

24

10. The defendant confrms that he is guilty of the offenses to which he is pleading

guilty, that his decision to plead guilty is the decision that he has made, and that nobody has

forced, threatened, or coerced him into pleading guilty. The defendant afsl'ms that he has

discussed this matter thoroughly with his attorney.The defendant further affirms that his

discussions with his attom ey have included discussion of possible defenses that he may raise if

the case were to go to trial, as well as possible issues and argum ents that he m ay raise at

sentencing. The defendant additionally affirms that he is satisfied with the representation

provided by his attomey. The defendant accordingly affirms that he is entering into this

agreement knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently, and with the benefh of 111, complete, and

effective assistance by his attorney.

1 1 . The defendant agrees to assist this Office in a11 proceedings, whether

administrative or judicial, involving the forfeiture to the United States of a11 rights, title, and

interest, regardless of their nature or form, in all assets, including real and personal property,

cash and other monetary instnzments, wherever located, which the defendant or others to his

knowledge have accum ulated as a result of illegal activities. Such assistance will involve an

agreement on the defendant's part to the entry of an order enjoining the transfer or encmnbrance

of assets which may be identified as being subject to forfeiture. Additionally, the defendant

agrees to identify as being subject to forfeiture al1 such assets, and to assist in the transfer of such

property to the United States by delivery to this Offce upon this Office's request, a11 necessary

and appropriate doctunentation with respect to said assets, including consents to forfeiture, quit
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claim deeds and any and a1l other documents necessary to deliver good and marketable title to

said property.

12. The defendant agrees to forfeit to the United States: voluntarily and immediately,

a11 property constituting, or derived from, proceeds the defendant obtained, directly or indirectly,

as the result of the commission of the violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349 to

which the defendant is pleading guilty, which property is thus subject to forfeiture pursuant to

Title 1 8, United States Code, Sections 98 1(a)(l )(C) and/or 982(a)(2)(A). The defendant

specifically agrees that the property which is subject to forfeiture includes, but is not limited to,

the sum of $2,366,330 in United States cuzrency, which nmount is equal in value to the proceeds

obtained, directly or indirectly, as the result of the com m ission of the offense in Count 1 of the

Indictment. The defendant shall be jointly and severally liable with co-defendant Marie Eleanor

M endez for $490,492 of this nmount, and shall be solely liable for the remaining $1,875,838.

The defendant further understands and agrees that the United States will seek a forfeiture m oney

judgment in the nmount of $2,366,330 as part of the defendant's sentence. The defendant hereby

consents to the imm ediate entry by the Court of an order of forfeitm e consistent herewith.

13. The defendant knowingly and voltmtarily agrees that, prior to his sentencing, he

will make a payment of at least $125,000 in United States currency to the United States, which

nm ount will be deem ed imm ediately forfeited to the United States as substitute property in

partial satisfaction of the moneyjudgment amount for which he and co-defendant Marie Eleanor

Mendez are jointly and severally liable.

14. Upon receipt of payments totaling at least $250,000 from the defendant and co-

defendant M aria Eleanor Mendez, the United States agrees that it will not seek forfeiture of the

property located at 89W Irving Avenue, Miami, Florida. The defendant understands and agrees,
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however, that the United States may seek forfeiture of any other properties of the defendant as

substitute property to satisfy the remaining amount of the forfeittzre money judgment against the

defendant.

15. The defendant knowingly and voluntarily agrees to waive any claim or defense

the defendant may have under the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution,

including any claim of excessive fine or penalty with respect to the forfeited property. The

defendant also agrees to waive any appeal for the forfeitlzre. The defendant further agrees to

waive any applicable time limits for the initiation of administrative forfeiture and/or any further

notification of any judicial or administrative forfeittzre proceedings brought against the forfeited

property.

16.

assessm ents, fines, costs, restitution orders, or any other penalty that m ay be imposed by the

The defendant understands and agrees that forfeitw e is independent of any

Court.

1 7.

Court. The defendant also is aware that any estim ate of the probable sentencing range or

The defendant is aware that the sentence has not yet been determined by the

sentence that the defendant may receive, whether that estimate comes from the defendant's

attorney, the government, or the probaticm office, is a predicticm, not a prom ise, and is not

binding on the government, the probation office, or the Court.The defendant understands

further that any recomm endation that the govennm ent m akes to the Court as to sentencing,

whether ptlrsuant to this agreement or otherwise, is not binding on the Court and the Court may

disregard the recommendation in its entirety. The defendant understands and acknowledges, as

previously acknowledged above, that the defendant may not withdraw his plea based upon the
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Court's decision not to accept a sentencing recommendation made by the defendant, the

government, or a recommendation made jointly by both the defendant and the government.

18. The defendant is aware that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742 affords the

defendant the right to appeal the sentence imposed in this case. Acknowledging this, in

exchange for the undertakings made by the United States in this plea agreement, the defendant

hereby waives a11 rights conferred by Section 3742 to appeal any sentence imposed, including

any restitution order, or to appeal the m nnner in which the sentence was imposed, unless the

sentence exceeds the m aximum penuitted by statute or is the result of an upward departure

and/or a variance from the guideline range that the court establishes at sentencing. The defendant

further understands that nothing in this agreem ent shall affect the governm ent's right and/or duty

to appeal as set forth in Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742(19. However, if the United

States appeals the defendant's sentence pursuant to Section 3742*), the defendant shall be

released from the above waiver of appellate rights. By signing this agreement, the defendant

acknowledges that he has discussed the appeal waiver set forth in this agreement with his

attorney. The defendant further agrees, together with the United States, to request that the

district court enter a specific finding that the defendant's waiver of his right to appeal the

sentence to be imposed in this case is knowing and voluntary.

ln the event the defendant withdraws from this agreem ent prior to or after

pleading guilty to the charges identified in paragraph one (1) above or otherwise fails to fully

comply with any of the terms of this plea agreement, the Offkes will be released from their

obligations under this agreement, and the defendant agrees and understands that: (a) he thereby

waives any protection afforded by any proffer letter agreement between the parties, Section

IB 1.8 of the Sentencing Guidelines, Rule 1 1(t) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, and
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Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, and that any statements made by him as part of plea

discussions, any debriefings or interviews, or in this agreement, whether made prior to or after

the execution of this agreement, will be admissible against him without any limitation in any

civil or criminal proceeding brought by the government; and (b) the defendant stipulates to the

admissibility and authenticity, in any case brought by the United States in any way related to the

facts referred to in this agreement and the Statement of Offense, of any documents provided by

the defendant or his representatives to any state or federal agency and/or the Offices.

20. This is the entire agreement and understanding between the United States and the

defendant. There are no other agreements, promises, representations, or understandings.

//

//

//
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W IFREDO A. FERRER

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

Southern District of Florida

JEFFREY H. KNOX
CHIEF

Fraud Section, Criminal Division

U.S. Departm ent of Justice

#

By :

dary A. in ers
Brian Y ng

Trial Attorneys

Fraud Section, Crim inal Division

By:

Os S. Ro ' ez, Es .

Attorney for Luis Michael

c wBy.
uis M ichael M endez

Defendant

x' r jDate:
( l

Date: Y &

% ïDate :
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